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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

  CASE NO: 12-cv-22439-MGC 

MICCOSUKEE TRIBE OF INDIANS OF FLORIDA, 
  Plaintiff, 
v. 

BILLY CYPRESS, et al, Defendants. 
 ____________________________________________________________ / 

DEFENDANT JULIO MARTINEZ’S MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND AMENDED 
COMPLAINT FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION AND FAILURE TO STATE 
A CAUSE OF ACTIONAND JOINDER IN MOTIONS TO DISMISS BY OTHER DEFENDANTS 

Defendant JULIO MARTINEZ ("Mr. Martinez"), through undersigned counsel, pursuant to 

Rules 9(a), 9(b), 9(d), 9(e), 12(b)(1), 12(b)(6) and 12(b)(7) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure,  

hereby moves to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint (D.E. 75) (the "Complaint") and further also 

hereby joins in the arguments raised by co-Defendants in their respective motions to dismiss the Second 

Amended Complaint and states as follows: 

Introduction 

The Complaint inappropriately attempts to allege causes of action arising under Federal law, 

related to an intra-tribal dispute.  The intra-tribal dispute arises from the “unrestricted” authority 

(admittedly alleged by the Complaint) over financial funds of Plaintiff held by Defendant BILLY 

CYPRESS as the prior duly elected Chairman of Plaintiff, the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE OF INDIANS OF 

FLORIDA, a sovereign Indian nation (the “Tribe”).   The Complaint alleges that all the subject 

transactions which are now objected to by the Tribe were reviewed and, by inference, approved by the 

Tribal Business Council and the Tribal General Council, being the governing bodies of the sovereign Indian 

nation.1  The Complaint also alleges that because of an election, the former Chairman was replaced and now 

                                            
1 The Complaint admits that:  
(1)  “Defendant CYPRESS was the elected Chairman of the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE during 

the relevant period of time, which is 2005 through and including January 2010. In this capacity, Defendant 
CYPRESS oversaw, controlled, supervised and had unrestricted access and control over all the financial 
funds and records of the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE which are the subject of this lawsuit.” (See, Complaint, 
¶6, DE 75 at 4)(Emphasis added).  Thus, the Complaint admits that Mr. Cypress, in his official elected 

Case 1:12-cv-22439-MGC   Document 105   Entered on FLSD Docket 12/21/2012   Page 1 of 22



2 
 

new Tribal leadership and new Tribal attorneys have brought the Case against former Tribal leadership and 

former Tribal attorneys.  Because the Complaint on its face alleges an intra-tribal dispute, the Court lacks 

subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate this matter.   

Moreover, this action was filed by the Tribe’s current Chairman and the Tribe’s current attorneys, 

without pleading any waiver of the Tribe’s sovereign immunity, let alone pleading any details as to how and 

under what authority the Tribe’s sovereign immunity was waived for all aspects of this Lawsuit and all legal 

consequences to the Tribe which may arise therefrom.  Thus, the pleading is not only defective under Rule 

9 Fed.R.Civ.Pro., but it also poses a subject matter jurisdiction issue as a threshold question  for the Court’s 

determination.  Namely, does the Court currently possess subjection matter jurisdiction to allow this 

Lawsuit to proceed based upon an inferred waiver of the Tribe’s sovereign immunity arising by virtue of 

the Tribe’s filing this Lawsuit and, if so, does the Court thereby possess full power and authority over the 

otherwise sovereign Indian Tribe, for the enforcement of this Court’s Orders?  As in the case of any other 

typical litigant coming before the Court seeking justice, the Court should have subject matter jurisdiction to 

enforce its issued Orders, including but not limited to any and all discovery production Orders, witness 

appearance Orders, enforcement Orders and Final Judgments related to counterclaims that may be brought 

by Defendants.  The Court is now required to determine between two options: (1) the Tribe enjoys 

sovereign immunity but has failed to properly plead and in fact has failed to officially waive the Tribe’s 

sovereign immunity; accordingly, the Tribe’s lawsuit is barred because the Court lacks subject matter 

jurisdiction to proceed with this Case absent such properly authorized waiver of sovereign immunity; OR 

                                                                                                                                             
capacity, was authorized to have “unrestricted control over all the financial funds.”  The Complaint alleges 
that this unrestricted control over financial funds was the authority expressly granted to Defendant Cypress 
by the sovereign Indian nation; and also 

(2) That the Tribal General Council (which governs Plaintiff Tribe) and the Tribal Business Council 
(which is responsible for the daily administrative operation of the Tribe) both regularly had meetings and 
reviewed the financial transactions complained of in the Complaint and both of those Tribal governing 
bodies discussed and, by direct inference, also approved those transactions (See, Complaint, DE 75 at 3, 72 
– 80).  
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(2) the Tribe has already waived all sovereign immunity related to and arising from this action, by virtue of 

having filed this Lawsuit and the Court now has subject matter jurisdiction to enforce any and all legally 

applicable Court Orders against the Tribe which may arise in or out of this Case.  Clearly, the Tribe cannot 

“have its cake and it eat too” respecting both, the utilization of this Court and nonwaiver of Tribal sovereign 

immunity.     

As to the allegations against Mr. Martinez, the Complaint admits he was an employee of the Tribe, 

working under the authority of the Tribal Chairman BILLY CYPRESS (“Mr. Cypress”) and Miguel 

Hernandez (“Mr. Hernandez”), the Tribe’s Director of the Finance Department (See Complaint, DE 75, 

¶7, 9, at 4).  The Complaint inappropriately attempts to apply Federal RICO legal standards in a conclusory 

manner lacking any pertinent specificity, by merely, in summary fashion, alleging as his overt acts that Mr. 

Martinez attended meetings and performed his job functions – all in accordance with the expected job duties 

of someone in Mr. Martinez’s employment position.  Beyond the bald conclusory allegations that Mr. 

Martinez knew of and conspired in the implausible and factually unsupported fraud scheme/fantasy 

concocted by the Complaint, no specific acts by Mr. Martinez are alleged that are illegal in nature and which 

would not be a part of his normal job duties as the head of the Accounting Department or as Chief Financial 

Officer. 2 The Complaint then attempts to boot strap the same deficiently alleged Federal RICO claims into 

conspiracy claims and State law causes of action brought under the Court’s supplementary jurisdiction. 

                                            
2 Mr. Martinez in fact vehemently denies all of the conclusory, unsupported allegations concerning 

his alleged use of a credit card account issued in his name, or of any ill-gotten monies, via credit card 
purchases/withdrawals or otherwise. The implausible conclusions reached by Plaintiff from these false 
allegations are particularly destructive and injurious to Mr. Martinez, taking into account his professional 
position of trust and responsibility respecting the funds of his employers or clients.  Thus, Plaintiff’s false 
and malicious accusations against Mr. Martinez are particularly egregious, scandalous and harmful to Mr. 
Martinez, as they serve to undermine the public’s trust in Mr. Martinez as an honest and competent 
professional in the financial industry.  Mr. Martinez contends that the false accusations against him are 
malicious and made for ulterior political purposes erroneously intended to assist the current Tribal 
Chairman and his cronies to maintain office.  Such wanton and malicious conduct should and will be 
subjected to appropriate claims brought by Mr. Martinez against the responsible parties, at the appropriate 
time.  While all such allegations are factually denied, for purposes of this Motion to Dismiss, even if they 
were arguendo considered true, the allegations are yet inadequately pled by the Complaint, as they are only 
summary in fashion without any requisite specificity as to any illegal overt act.  As a factual matter outside 
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ARGUMENT 

I. THE COURT SHOULD DISMISS THE SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR LACK 
OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION. 

The Court should dismiss this lawsuit for lack of jurisdiction because the Complaint alleges that the 

Tribe is a sovereign Indian nation (Complaint, ¶5, DE 75 at 3), yet the Complaint fails to allege that the 

Tribe has waived its sovereign immunity for all purposes under this Lawsuit or any related lawsuits arising 

therefrom.  Thus, the Complaint also violates Rule 9, Fed.R.Civ.Pro. by:  

1) Violating Rule 9(a) in failing to allege the Tribe’s capacity to sue or be sued in this Case, 

“to the extent required to show the jurisdiction of the court.” 3  As a matter of law, the Court lacks subject 

matter jurisdiction over a sovereign Indian nation to entertain this lawsuit, absent a clear and direct 

averment in the Complaint that the Tribe has, through its own internal governing bodies, waived its 

sovereign immunity and now presents this Case to the Court with the capacity to sue Defendants and to be 

sued in turn by Defendants. (See Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint filed by Defendant Billy 

Cypress); 

                                                                                                                                             
of the scope of this Motion to Dismiss, Mr. Martinez alerts the Court that Plaintiff’s sham Complaint and the 
scandalous allegations against Mr. Martinez constitute the height (or rather, the nadir) of irresponsibility 
and unconscionable frivolity by Plaintiff and its attorneys.  Plaintiff and its attorneys have failed to 
reasonably review Plaintiff’s own records or to reasonably consult with Plaintiff’s own Finance Department 
employees or with its credit card provider.  Upon doing so -- as responsibly required prior to bringing this 
Lawsuit against Mr. Martinez, Plaintiff and its attorneys would have, at a minimum, eliminated all of the 
abuse of credit card allegations raised in the Complaint against Mr. Martinez.  In truth and in fact, Mr. 
Martinez NEVER even had a Tribal credit card issued to him in his name.  Should the Complaint not 
ultimately be dismissed with prejudice, Mr. Martinez will raise those denials in his Answer and then 
conduct extensive relevant discovery into the Tribe’s actual financial books and records and also conduct 
discovery of key Tribal witnesses for the purpose of demonstrating the utterly sham nature of the allegations 
made by Plaintiff against him.  
     However, the Tribe’s own past conduct in other separate lawsuits brought by the Tribe in State Court 
proceedings against most of the other Defendants named in this suit, shows that the Tribe engages in the 
intentional and unrepentant stonewalling and contempt of the legal discovery process.  There is little doubt 
that if this Case is permitted to proceed, the Tribe will likewise show contempt for this Court’s discovery 
orders and enforcement orders.  For this reason, it is imperative that the Court, from the outset of this Case, 
determine whether the Court possesses subject matter jurisdiction over the sovereign Tribe and further 
determine that the extent of that jurisdiction shall include the Court’s authority to enforce the Court’s own 
pre-trial and post-trial orders against the Tribe, both in this lawsuit and in any related actions arising 
therefrom, such as a subsequent claim against the Tribe and others for malicious prosecution.  
3 (See, Moore v City of Harriman, 272 F.3d 769, 772-74 (6th Cir. 2001)(noting division among appellate 
courts as to whether a Section 1983 defendant’s “capacity” must be formally alleged in the complaint); 
Cooper v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 959 F. Supp. 964, 966 n. 2 (C.D. Ill. 1997)(commenting that case law 
supports notion that capacity issues may be raised by motion to dismiss). 
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2)   Violating Rules 9(a) and 12(b)(1) to the extent that Plaintiff is seeking to recover for 

people, i.e., Tribal members, who are not actually before this Court, and thus Plaintiff lacks capacity to 

bring this suit for those individuals and lacks standing.4 Plaintiff purports to represent the Miccosukee 

Indian people, yet Plaintiff actually fails to allege that those Indian people have granted Plaintiff the 

capacity to sue on their behalf or that those people are now in effect standing before this Court.  Instead, 

Plaintiff alleges that, “[t]he authority of the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE of Indians of Florida is vested in the 

Miccosukee General Council. The Miccosukee General Council is composed of all adult members of the 

MICCOSUKEE TRIBE 18 years of age or over.” (Complaint, ¶5b., DE 75 at 3).  Thus, according to the 

Complaint, the Tribal General Council is composed of individuals and those individuals have authority over 

the Plaintiff Tribe.  However, neither the Tribal General Council or the individuals who compose the 

General Council are named as party plaintiffs to this action, nor is any express specific authority alleged by 

the Complaint which granted Plaintiff as an Indian institution the official authority to file this Lawsuit, 

despite the fact that the Plaintiff Tribe alleges in Paragraph 5 b., page 3 of the Complaint that it is the Tribal 

General Council and the individuals who compose the General Council who in fact have and exercise 

authority over Plaintiff.  Based on its own allegations, the Complaint has the appearance of  an ultra vires act 

by the Tribe’s current Chairman, whom the Court may take judicial notice is the political rival of Defendant 

Mr. Cypress.  

3) Violating Rule 9(d), by failing to allege that the Tribal General Council – which is the 

alleged governing body over Plaintiff, actually issued any official document or took any official action 

which authorized this Lawsuit and thus waived the sovereign Indian nation’s sovereign immunity for all 

purposes under this Lawsuit.  Rule 9(d), Fed.R.Civ.Pro., provides as follows: “OFFICIAL DOCUMENT 

OR ACT. In pleading an official document or official act, it suffices to allege that the document was legally 

issued or the act legally done.”   The Complaint avoids this pleading requirement altogether, perhaps 

intentionally, so that perhaps later the Tribe may yet contradictorily attempt to avoid the enforcement of this 

                                            
4 (See, Movimiento Democracia, Inc. v. Chertoff, 417 F. Supp. 2d 1350, 1352 (S.D. Fla. 2006) ("Pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1), a court may dismiss a suit for lack of subject matter jurisdiction 
and a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction when the plaintiffs lack standing to sue.").   
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Court’s orders issued in this same Case, based upon the logical sophistry/ excuse that the Miccosukee Indian 

people/Tribal General Council never actually waived their sovereign immunity.  The Court may take 

judicial notice based upon prior Federal litigation involving this same Plaintiff, that the Tribe invariably 

relies upon  its sovereign immunity claims in order to avoid imposition of Federal judicial authority/Federal 

law over the Tribe. 

4) Violating Rule 9(e), by failing to allege whether the Tribe’s own Courts or official 

governing bodies have adjudicated the matter and issued a judgment or official decision holding Mr. 

Cypress liable for anything illegal whatsoever under Tribal law or Tribal custom.  Pursuant to Rule 9(e), 

Fed.R.Civ.Pro., “JUDGMENT. In pleading a judgment or decision of a domestic or foreign court, a judicial 

or quasi-judicial tribunal, or a board or officer, it suffices to plead the judgment or decision without showing 

jurisdiction to render it.”  While the Complaint alleges that Plaintiff is a sovereign nation, it fails to allege 

that any judicial body or even board of that sovereign nation has rendered any judgment regarding the 

alleged claims against any Defendants.  Moreover, the Complaint alleges the opposite of a finding of any 

liability by the official governing bodies of the Tribe against Mr. Cypress or other Defendants -- in that the 

Complaint alleges that the Tribal General Council (which governs Plaintiff Tribe) and the Tribal Business 

Council (which is responsible for the daily administrative operation of the Tribe) both regularly had 

meetings and reviewed the financial transactions complained of in the Complaint and both of those Tribal 

governing bodies discussed and, by inference, previously approved the financial transactions which are the 

purported subject of this Lawsuit (See, Complaint, DE 75 at 3, 72 – 80).  Thus, the Complaint 

contradictorily shows contempt for the prior judgments and decisions of the very governing bodies having 

authority over Plaintiff, which governing bodies, according to the Complaint, previously allegedly 

discussed and allowed the financial transactions which are the only purported wrongs/improper acts alleged 

by the Complaint. This patently conflicting narration in the allegations of the Complaint (i.e., the 

discussion/approval of the transactions by the Tribe’s governing bodies vs. the Complaint’s allegations that 

those same transactions were improper), shows this Case for what it actually is – a politically motivated 

intra-tribal dispute.   
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Notably, while the Complaint alleges that the Tribal Business Council, “is composed of the 

Chariman, Vice Chairman, Secretary, Treasurer, and Lawmaker” (See Complaint, ¶5a)5 and while the 

Complaint alleges that the alleged wrongful invoices and transactions were reviewed regularly by the Tribal 

Business Council (Complaint, at 75 – 80), the Complaint contradictorily fails to allege the responsibility or 

even the presence of any other members of the Tribal Business Council besides Chairman Mr. Cypress 

during the long list of Tribal Business Council meetings cited in Complaint pages 75 through 80.  It is thus 

obvious from the face of the Complaint, the allegation as to the make-up of the Business Council and the 

patently incomplete table of those present at Business Council meetings (contained in the Complaint 

starting on Complaint page 75), that Plaintiff seeks to disassociate the other members of the Tribal Business 

Council – who allegedly actually reviewed and approved all of the alleged transactions, from this intra-tribal 

dispute.  For this reason, the Complaint also violates Rule 12(b)(7), Fed.R.Civ.Pro., for failure to join 

parties under Rule 19.  Namely, the other three currently serving members of the governing Tribal Business 

Council which actually approved of all transactions made by Mr. Cypress, should be joined as Defendants 

to this Lawsuit, if arguendo any cause of action is properly alleged against any of the other named 

Defendants.   This patently intra-tribal dispute in fact amounts only to a politically motivated witch hunt 

launched outside of the Tribe’s actual laws and customs by the current Chairman and his attorneys against 

the past Chairman and his attorneys.  Mr. Martinez and Mr. Hernandez were simply employees doing their 

jobs as directed by all of the Tribe’s authorized and elected officials, but have nevertheless been dragged 

into this intra-tribal politically motivated warfare as collateral damage.  

As alleged by the prior Amended Complaint (DE 13), this Lawsuit actually is motivated by an 

internal tribal political dispute and not by any actual theft or unapproved actions by the Tribe. (See 

Amended Complaint, DE 13, ¶ 6).  This Complaint is in fact a sham and by its own contradictory allegations 

and failure to plead necessary standing/capacity to sue allegations, the Complaint should be dismissed with 

prejudice. 

                                            
5 The Court may take judicial notice of the fact that three of the five members of the Tribal Business Council 
who approved all transactions alleged by the Complaint, are still sitting members of the Tribal Business 
Council, yet those members have not been made party defendants to this Lawsuit by the Tribe.  
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Federal courts have explained that an Indian tribe “like other sovereigns, is immune from suit for 

alleged RICO violations.” 6  Mr. Cypress, and by extension the agents working for the Tribe under his 

supervision, likewise enjoyed immunity from RICO suit for actions taken in their official capacity.  

Therefore, the central underlying factual issue presented by the Complaint to the Court is whether Mr. 

Cypress improperly abused his tribal authority by using tribal funds in a manner somehow not within his 

“unrestricted” discretion granted by the Tribe.  However, this Court’s jurisdiction does not extend to the 

dispute between Mr. Cypress and his Tribe or the manner through which Mr. Cypress spent tribal funds 

after he was elected and expressly authorized to control those funds. Such a dispute is appropriately 

adjudicated by tribal authorities under tribal law.  Although Mr. Martinez is not a member of the Tribe, 

because he has been accused of improperly receiving tribal funds and taking direction as a Tribal employee 

from the Chair of the Tribe, the underlying question of whether Mr. Cypress improperly hired, directed or 

paid Mr. Martinez remains as a preliminary matter a dispute subject to tribal authority and is at least 

preliminarily an intra-tribal dispute between Mr. Cypress, other Tribal officials and the Tribe.7   

                                            
6 See Smith v. Babbitt, 100 F.3d 556, 559 (8th Cir. 1996) (“We agree with the district court that this is 
essentially an intra-tribal dispute.. As such, this Court does not have jurisdiction to consider this appeal.  
Consequently, we find that this case is most properly left to tribal authorities….”). Cf.; Snowbird Constr. 
Co. v. United States, 666 F. Supp. 1437, 1440–41 (D. Idaho 1987) (holding that tribal sovereign immunity 
did not bar RICO suit only after concluding that “sue and be sued” clause in tribal ordinance “unequivocally 
expressed” waiver of sovereign immunity). 

7 See Montana v. United States, 450 US 544, 564 (1981) (a tribe retains “inherent power” to 
“exercise civil authority over the conduct of non-Indians” when that conduct “threatens or has some direct 
effect on the political integrity, the economic security, or the health or welfare of the tribe.”); see also Strate 
v. A-1 Contractors, 520 U.S. 438, 459 (1997).  In Smith v. Babbitt, 100 F.3d 556, 559 (8th Cir. 1996), Tribal 
Plaintiffs alleged that an executive governing body of a tribe (the “Defendant Community”) and individual 
members of that executive body (the “Defendant Individuals”) violated several federal statutes, including 
RICO, and the Community’s Constitution. See Smith, 875 F. Supp. at 1356.  The court concluded it had no 
basis to assert jurisdiction over an intra-tribal dispute regarding membership—a subject matter governed by 
tribal code – despite the reference to RICO and mail fraud. Id. at 1366 judgment aff'd, appeal dismissed in 
part, 100 F.3d 556 (8th Cir. 1996). 
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 As in Smith v. Babbitt, the RICO allegations against Mr. Martinez in this case are centered around 

allegations of misconduct by the Tribe’s prior Chairman and between a Tribal subgroup—the Business 

Council and General Council, (DE 75 at 3)—and involving the Tribe’s finances, a matter clearly falling 

entirely within Tribal jurisdiction.  The Tribe has essentially elevated an intra-tribal dispute to a federal 

claim by recasting a challenge to Mr. Cypress’s prior admitted unrestricted authority as a RICO claim and 

placing Mr. Martinez and other defendants unfairly in the middle. See Smith, 875 F. Supp. at 1366 (even 

when “couched in terms…of RICO violation,” an intra-tribal dispute is “within the exclusive jurisdiction 

and sovereign power” of the Tribe), judgment aff'd, appeal dismissed in part, 100 F.3d 556 (8th Cir. 1996).  

“The Plaintiffs cannot circumvent the Community's exclusive jurisdiction simply by recasting these 

determinations as RICO violations.” See Smith, 875 F. Supp. at 1366. As in Smith, this Court should dismiss 

the RICO and conspiracy claims for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.   

II. THE SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT DOES NOT STATE A CLAIM FOR RICO, 
CIVIL THEFT OR FRAUD BECAUSE IT MERELY ADVANCES CONCLUSORY, 
IMPLAUSIBLE ALLEGATIONS AND FAILS TO SATISFY THE REQUISITE LEVEL 
OF SPECIFICITY OR OTHER PLEADING REQUIREMENTS 

Plaintiff’s vaguely alleged claims of impropriety or illegal conduct against Mr. Martinez are stated 

in mere conclusory terms and thus cannot satisfy the pleading requirement for the high level of specificity 

needed to maintain Count I (RICO), Count III (Civil Theft), or Count IV (Fraud).  Moreover, the 

Complaint’s allegations against Mr. Martinez, even when arguendo taken as true for purposes of a motion 

to dismiss, are likewise hopelessly contradicted by the Complaint’s own allegations respecting the actual 

authority of the Chairman to unrestricted control of the Tribe’s financial funds, the Tribal Business 

Council’s and the Tribal General Council’s actual review and approval of the Chairman’s financial 

transactions and Mr. Martinez’s role as an employee in merely performing the assignments directed by his 

supervisors (i.e., the Chairman Mr. Cypress and the Director of the Finance Department, Defendant 

Michael Hernandez).   
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In short, the Complaint alleges that: Mr. Martinez performed his duties as a tribal employee and 

officer, by following the directions of Tribal Chairman Mr. Cypress; that Mr. Cypress had actual 

“unrestricted” authority to direct the use of the Tribe’s financial funds; and that the transactions directed by 

Mr. Cypress were reviewed and approved by both, the Tribe’s Business Council and the Tribe’s General 

Council.  No actual violation of any Tribal law is alleged.  No violation of any Federal law applicable to the 

sovereign Tribe is either alleged or alleged without fatal self-contradiction within the Complaint.  Thus, the 

Complaint should now be dismissed with prejudice.   

Furthermore, the Complaint fails to properly plead plausible allegations for purposes of the claims 

raised.  Careful examination  of the allegations of wrongdoing in the Complaint show that all such 

allegations are merely broad and vague legal conclusions, lacking the substance of any specific details in 

support of the those alleged conclusions. The central theme and allegations of alleged wrongdoing in the 

Complaint are contained in Complaint Paragraphs 40 and 41, on pages 12 through 17 (which allegations are 

repeated in the same conclusory fashion throughout the Complaint).  Plaintiff attempts to allege an 

implausible three part scheme by Defendants (each of whom the Court may take judicial notice are known 

and respected  individuals or institutions in the community) to defraud the Tribe by creation of inflated legal 

invoices, kickbacks and improper accounting.  Yet, no specific ultimate facts are alleged to actually 

substantiate any of the legal conclusions broadly alleged for such an implausible conspiracy between a long 

term Tribal Chairman, two former U.S. Attorneys and their law firms, a major financial institution and two 

career financial professional employees.   

By way of example, the Complaint alleges that “Defendant CYPRESS hired Defendant LEWIS, 

Defendant TEIN, and Defendant LEWIS TEIN, P.L. arbitrarily and without the express knowledge of the 

governing body of the Miccosukee Government, at a rate that was three times higher than the rate of 

attorneys with more experience, prestige and expertise in the field for work that was substantially of less 

value and less professional demand.”  (See Complaint, ¶ 40, at 12)(Emphasis added).   
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However, nowhere are any of those bald faced legal conclusions actually supported with any 

alleged ultimate facts.  The Complaint fails to allege what the allegedly offensive rate was for either 

Defendants Guy Lewis, Esquire, Michael Tein, Esquire, or Lewis Tein, PL (collectively, “Lewis Tein”).  

The Complaint fails to allege how it reaches the conclusion that other attorneys had more experience, 

prestige or expertise in any field of work.  Except for alleging that some unspecified amount of work was 

actually done for Mr. Cypress (skipping over the question or allegations as to whether or not pursuant to 

Tribal law or custom that type of work for the Chairman could also constitute allowable expenses or work 

for “tribal purposes”8) it fails to actually describe what work was done by Lewis Tein which constituted 

work “substantially of less value and less professional demand.”  Outrageously, the Complaint alleges in 

conclusory fashion that the mail was used for sending “the invoices containing fictitious, exaggerated, 

improperly created, and unnecessary legal work” (Complaint ¶54, at 55) and then fails to allege a single 

ultimate fact in support of even one invoice that was either “fictitious, exaggerated, improperly created” or 

contained “unnecessary legal work.”   

Moreover, the Complaint contradicts itself by at the same time alleging that the hiring of Lewis 

Tein and work performed by Lewis Tein was  “without the express knowledge of the governing body of the 

Miccosukee Government” (Complaint, ¶ 40) but then also alleging that the alleged offending Lewis Tein 

invoices were in fact discussed/reviewed not only by the Tribal Finance Department personnel but also by 

both the Tribal Business Council and the Tribal General Council. (See Complaint, ¶ ¶ 55 -61 at pages 72 – 

80).  Thus, while the conclusory allegation that the Lewis Tein invoices are fraudulent in nature is a central 

                                            
8 The Complaint avoids making any allegations concerning what Tribal law or Tribal custom actually 
considers to be a “tribal purpose.”  The Complaint fails to actually allege that use of Tribal funds for the 
payment of legal fees for Tribal members is NOT a “tribal purpose” allowed by the Tribe’s Business 
Council or the Tribe’s General Council.  To the contrary, the Complaint’s other allegations, that both the 
Business Council and the General Council discussed the invoices and allowed those transactions, expressly 
contradict any bald legal conclusion that use of funds for payment of Tribal Members’ legal fees cannot be 
considered a legitimate tribal purpose under the Miccosukee Nation’s actual tribal laws and customs. 
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pillar of the Complaint’s claims against all Defendants, the Complaint is devoid of any allegations of 

ultimate fact that substantiate that bald legal conclusion.   

Likewise, while the Complaint repeatedly makes the bald legal conclusion that Mr. Cypress 

received kickbacks from Lewis Tein, not one single instance or description of ultimate fact as to any 

transaction actually identified as a “kickback” is contained in the Complaint.  This shocking and 

implausible conspiratorial bald allegation is never actually supported by any allegations of ultimate fact. 

The Complaint attempts to boot-strap the insufficiently pled conclusory allegations against the 

Lewis Tein invoices and the wholly unsupported allegation of kickbacks, into the bald legal conclusion that 

Mr. Martinez was an accomplice in permitting and participating in the insufficiently alleged implausible 

fraud concerning those insufficiently alleged invoices/kickbacks.     

The Complaint’s RICO claim Paragraphs 63 through 65, and 73 against Mr. Martinez are mere 

boilerplate conclusory allegations, devoid of any effort at alleging an ultimate fact.  Paragraph 66 alleges: 

“Defendant MARTINEZ played an active role in devising and carrying out the secret scheme created in 

April of 2005, whereby Defendant CYPRESS would not pay the legal fees for his representation to 

Defendants LEWIS, TEIN, and LEWIS TEIN, P.L., and in exchange Defendant CYPRESS would 

arbitrarily create and assign legal work that was mostly fictitious, inflated, exaggerated and or unnecessary, 

under the guise that the work was for a "tribal purpose."” (Complaint, ¶66, at 81, 82)(Emphasis added).  

However, no ultimate facts are alleged as to what “active role” Mr. Martinez allegedly took, nor as to what 

or how Mr. Martinez went about “devising and carrying out” any scheme, and no ultimate facts are pled as 

to when or where any of the alleged implausible scheming took place.  Moreover, the remaining portion of 

Paragraph 66 simply repeats the completely unsupported legal conclusions alleged earlier in the Complaint 

against Lewis Tein’s invoices.      

Similarly, while the Complaint liberally sprinkles bald legal consclusions that loans made to Mr. 

Cypress by the Tribe were fraudulent, the ultimate facts as to none -- not even one-- particular fraudulent 
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loan are ever addressed by the Complaint.  What the Complaint does do however, is undermine its own bald 

legal conclusions, by directly alleging that Mr. Cypress was clothed by the Tribe with unrestricted authority 

to order the Tribe’s financial affairs (Complaint, ¶6, DE 75 at 4) and that moreover, the Tribal Business 

Council and Tribal General Council regularly met, reviewed and by direct inference approved of those 

transactions, including but not limited to any loans made to Mr. Cypress. (Complaint, at 3, 4, 72 – 80). 

It should also be noted by the Court that nowhere does the Complaint even attempt to distinguish 

Mr. Martinez’s normal role and customary duties as the Tribe’s head of the Accounting Department or 

alleged Chief Financial Officer, from the acts which allegedly constituted wrongful behavior or predicate 

acts.  In the Complaint’s actual allegations of ultimate fact, Mr. Martinez is alleged to simply have acted as 

an employee in his professional capacity as he was required to act in carrying out his duties under the 

supervision of the Chairman, Mr. Cypress and the Tribe’s Director of the Finance Department, Mr. 

Hernandez.9  Nowhere in the Complaint is Mr. Martinez alleged to have had any actual authority or right to 

negate or prevent any of the transactions or any of the loans complained of in any of the claims raised.  To 

the contrary, the Court is advised by the Complaint that the Tribe’s two governing bodies, the Business 

Council and the General Council, actually reviewed and by inference, approved the transactions and loans 

which were taken/proposed by the Chairman, whom the Complaint alleges to have possessed “unrestricted 

access and control over all the financial funds” of the Tribe (Complaint, at 3, 4, 72 – 80).  Thus, the actual 

ultimate allegations of fact contained in the Complaint require that the claims against Mr. Martinez be 

immediately dismissed, with prejudice.   

Complaint Paragraphs 74 and 75 attempt, but likewise fail, to allege any ultimate facts which 

support any claim for relief even if arguendo, for purposes of a Motion to Dismiss, those bald legal 

                                            
9 The Complaint alleges that, “Defendant MARTINEZ'S role was to issue the payments” for the Lewis and 
Tein invoices. (Complaint, ¶68 at 82; see also ¶¶ 70 – 72, 99, 102).  Thus, the Court may conclude from the 
four corners of the Complaint that Mr. Martinez is not alleged to have taken any action outside of the normal 
scope of his official duties.   
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conclusions are temporarily considered to be true.  Those Paragraphs allege that Mr. Martinez had and used 

an American Express charge card issued under his name which was secured by the Morgan Stanley 

Investment Account and that he charged $959,269.65 in personal expenses to that charge account.  Even if 

true (and those allegations are denied), the allegations do not amount to any unlawful act on the part of an 

executive of a multi-billion dollar entity.  The Complaint is devoid of any allegations as to what was the 

Tribe’s agreed compensation to Mr. Cypress or to any of the Defendants for their services.  The Complaint 

makes no allegation as to whether other Tribal members were routinely allowed or denied loans, for legal 

representation purposes or otherwise.  The Complaint is silent as to the actual Tribal policies, customs and 

laws relating to the circumstances alleged.  It is apparent from the four corners of the Complaint that 

Plaintiff is studiously attempting to avoid Tribal law and custom and is instead attempting to impose U.S. 

Federal statutes in support of its claims, while improperly at the same time not specifically waiving 

Plaintiff’s legal entitlement to claim sovereign immunity whenever it becomes expedient during the course 

of these proceedings.  Plaintiff is attempting (albeit, via defective pleading) to use U.S. statutes as a sword 

against Defendants while still later being able (they hope) to use the Indian Nation’s sovereign immunity as 

a shield against any repercussions arising from Plaintiff’s malicious pleadings.  Plaintiff may not equitably 

be allowed to “have its cake and eat it too.”    Thus, while the Complaint’s bald legal conclusions at first 

sound impressively bad, the reality is that the Complaint’s conclusory allegations are full of sound and fury, 

but in ultimate factual terms signify nothing.      

 Mr. Martinez hereby incorporates and adopts by reference the legal arguments and authorities cited 

by Defendants Lewis Tein in their Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint and 

Incorporated Memorandum of Law.  The Complaint fails the “plausibility standard” as to the claims against 

Mr. Martinez, by failing to allege the basis for any right to relief beyond the speculative level, as required by 

the Twombly, Iqbal and  American Dental Association decisions as to Federal pleading requirements. (See, 

Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544 (U.S. 2007); Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S.Ct. 1937 (U.S. 2009); 
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American Dental Association v. CIGNA Corp., 605 F. 3d 1283 (11th Cir. 2010) ).   Under Twombly and 

Iqbal, a federal court cannot blindly accept at face value those factual allegations that are implausible or for 

which there are obvious alternative explanations. 

The Complaint alleges that Mr. Martinez was an employee of the Tribe directly supervised by Mr. 

Cypress (See Complaint, ¶ 7) and as Mr. Martinez was an employee in the Tribe’s Finance Department, Mr. 

Martinez was also, by direct inference contained in the Complaint, under the supervision of Defendant 

Miguel Hernandez, the Tribe’s Director of the Finance Department (See Complaint, ¶ 9).  Thus, the 

Complaint alleges that Mr. Martinez was under the chain of command of both Mr. Hernandez and Mr. 

Cypress and that Mr. Cypress had authority for and enjoyed, “unrestricted access and control over all 

financial funds and records of the MICCOSUKKE TRIBE which are the subject of this lawsuit.” (See 

Complaint, ¶6)(Emphasis added).  The Complaint further alleges that the Tribe’s governing bodies, the 

Business Council and the General Council, exercised regular periodic review/discussions of the very 

financial transactions objected to by the Complaint (See Complaint, at 3, 4, 72 – 80).   

Accordingly, instead of satisfying the “plausibility standard” of the Twombly, Iqbal and  American 

Dental Association decisions for any of the alleged claims, the Complaint’s allegations actually have the 

direct opposite effect.  The Complaint’s allegations as to the Mr. Martinez’s job specification as an 

employee, his actual job specific acts of allowing/processing payments, his position down the chain of 

command, the Chairman’s Tribal-grant of unrestricted financial authority and the two separate Tribal 

governing Councils’ actual oversight and review of the alleged transactions, all individually and 

collectively combine to strongly suggest that it is highly plausible that Mr. Martinez merely did his job 

and was not involved in any scandalous implausible scheme whatsoever. The Courts may infer from the 

factual allegations in the Complaint ‘obvious alternative explanation[s],’ which suggest lawful conduct by 

Mr. Martinez, rather than the unlawful conduct the Plaintiff would ask the Court to infer. American Dental 

Ass’n, 605 F.3d at 1290 (citing Iqbal at 1951–52 (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 567)).   
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The Tribe cannot have it both ways; it cannot have its cake and eat it too in respect to pleading what 

authority was actually held and what transactions were reviewed/approved by the Chairman, the Tribal 

Business Council and the Tribal General Council and yet then also simultaneously allege an extremely 

implausible scheme in the broadest conclusory allegations, for the unsupported conclusion that Mr. 

Martinez should be held responsible for those identical authorized transactions by Mr. Cypress and the 

Tribal Councils.  Plaintiff is actually requesting that  ex post facto those prior Tribal authorized acts now be 

declared unauthorized and illegal by the Court, thus allowing Plaintiff to cast a litigation dragnet over 

upstanding members and institutions of the community, who simply provided professional services to the 

Tribe at the Tribe’s request and pursuant to the Tribe’s review and approval, as expressly alleged by the 

Complaint.         

 Further, in addition to the requirement that general civil allegations meet a plausibility standard, a 

plaintiff is subject to an even higher pleading standard when alleging a fraud or RICO claim;  like claims for 

fraud, “civil RICO claims, which are essentially a certain breed of fraud claims, must be pled with an 

increased level of specificity under Rule 9(b)”  Am. Dental Ass’n, 605 F.3d at 1290-91. “The critical 

concern reflected in Rule 9(b) is that the allegations sufficiently alert Defendants “to the ‘precise 

misconduct with which they are charged.’” Koch v. Royal Wine Merchants, Ltd., 847 F. Supp. 2d 1370, 

1377 (S.D. Fla. 2012) (citations omitted).  What unlawful precise conduct is pled against Mr. Martinez with 

specificity as to ultimate facts, so as to place Mr. Martinez on notice as to the precise misconduct with 

which he is charged?  Clearly, none.  Mr. Martinez is only accused via specific allegations of ultimate fact, 

of having performed his job.   

Due to the failure to plead ultimate specific facts against Mr. Martinez (and indeed, due to the 

contradictory and actually exculpatory nature of the Complaint’s allegations), the Tribe likewise has failed 

its requirement to plead a RICO violation at the required increased level of specificity.  Simply alleging and 

listing on numerous pages a compiled list of Lewis Tein invoices, a compiled list of property owned by Mr. 
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Cypress and a compiled list of property owned by Lewis Tein, utterly fails to actually support the necessary 

specificity pleading required by federal law for the fraud and RICO claims raised.  Such listed transactions 

are not, in and of themselves, violative of any law.   

The Complaint is also deficient in that the Tribe has failed to properly allege all of the elements of a 

RICO civil action. To state a valid claim for a violation of civil RICO a plaintiff must allege (1) conduct (2) 

of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of racketeering activity that (5) results in an injury to business or 

property (6) by reason of the substantive RICO violation. See Williams v. Mohawk Indus., Inc., 465 F.3d 

1277, 1282-83 (11th Cir. 2006).  In contrast, the Complaint alleges no conduct by Mr. Martinez in 

furtherance of any alleged criminal enterprise; rather, the Complaint alleges by ultimate fact, that Mr. 

Martinez merely performed his normal job duties on behalf of the Tribe, pursuant to the Tribe’s 

authorizations in favor of the Chairman and the Tribe’s governing bodies.  Thus, there are no allegations in 

the Complaint as to how Mr. Martinez participated in the management of any RICO enterprise – he is only 

alleged to have performed his normal management duties owed to the Tribe. 

Likewise, no “predicate acts” of “racketeering activity” are in fact specifically pled.  Instead, only 

broad conclusory allegations are made devoid of the specific ultimate facts to support any of them.  The 

Complaint fails to present each alleged predicate act of racketeering activity by number—“e.g., ‘Predicate 

Act #1,’ ‘Predicate Act #2,’ etc...” as required (See Koch, 847 F. Supp. 2d at 1377 (S.D. Fla. 2012)) and it 

also fails to plead any essential facts relevant to each predicate act.  The Tribe in perfunctory manner alleges 

three statutory violations against Mr. Martinez, for mail fraud, money laundering and engaging in monetary 

transactions in property derived from unlawful activity.  All three of those statutory claims involve an 

element of scienter and a RICO plaintiff’s allegations of scienter cannot be “merely conclusory and 

unsupported by any factual allegations.” Republic of Panama v. BCCI Holdings (Luxembourg) S.A., 119 

F.3d 935, 949 (11th Cir. 1997).  Yet, the Complaint defectively fails to allege with any specificity the 
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ultimate facts supporting the scienter element against Mr. Martinez for any of the statutes allegedly 

violated.   

To state a valid “pattern of racketeering activity” for purposes of alleging a RICO violation, a 

plaintiff must plead facts sufficient to demonstrate “continuity”—or “criminal conduct of a continuing 

nature”—that is either closed or open-ended.  See H.J. Inc. v. Nw. Bell Tel. Co., 492 U.S. 229, 230, 109 S. 

Ct. 2893, 2896, 106 L. Ed. 2d 195 (1989).  Because the Complaint attempts to allege only a single scheme 

against the singular Tribe with a discrete goal over a limited period of time, without however any allegation 

that the purported scheme would extend to other persons or entities in the future, the Court should refuse to 

find a closed-ended pattern of racketeering despite the allegation the implausible scheme took place over a 

five year period of time.10  Further, the Complaint fails to attempt to allege any Tribal law or regulation 

which was violated by Mr. Cypress or by the Tribe’s Business Council or General Council, which reviewed 

and approved of the transactions directed by Mr. Cypress.  Pursuant to the precepts of Tribal sovereign 

immunity, even if the Tribe were to plead with specificity sufficient ultimate facts constituting predicate 

acts under federal or state law, neither mail or wire fraud statutes can apply, as the Tribe’s own laws, which 

admittedly allowed Mr. Cypress unrestricted control of the Tribe’s financial funds (Complaint ¶6), were not 

violated by definition. If Mr. Cypress enjoyed “unrestricted” authority over the funds based on his elected 

capacity as Chairman, as expressly alleged by the Complaint, then by definition his actions regarding the 

financial transactions (and the Councils’ review/approval of those transactions) cannot be violative of 

Tribal law.  This pleading issue further directly highlights the actual intra-tribal nature of this dispute and 

the Court’s lack of subject matter jurisdiction over the dispute.        

                                            
10 Jackson v. BellSouth Telecommunications, 372 F.3d 1250, 1267 (11th Cir. 2004); See Boone v. 

Carlsbad Bancorporation, Inc., 972 F.2d 1545, 1556 (10th Cir. 1992) (plaintiffs failed to establish 
continuity where the allegations were of a single scheme to accomplish a discrete goal, with no potential to 
extend to other persons or entities).  See also, e.g., Efron v. Embassy Suites (P. R.), Inc., 223 F.3d 12, 18 (1st 
Cir. 2000) (noting that “the fact that a defendant has been involved in only one scheme with a singular 
objective and a closed group of targeted victims” supports the conclusion that there is no continuity). 
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III. THE SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT’S COUNT II DOES NOT ESTABLISH A 
CONSPIRACY CLAIM. 

Count II of the Complaint attempts to allege a conspiracy claim, but when a conspiracy count does 

not contain any additional allegations, as in this Case, once a primary RICO claim fails, the claim for 

conspiracy to commit a RICO violation also fails.11  Plaintiff has failed to plead with ultimate facts either 

that (1) Mr. Martinez agreed to the overall objective of the alleged conspiracy; or (2) that Mr. Martinez 

agreed to commit two predicate acts.12 The Tribe has also failed to adequately allege that Mr. Martinez 

participated in a conspiracy to violate RICO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).13 Without facts to show how, 

or to create a reasonable inference that the Defendants made an agreement, the Tribe’s conclusory 

allegations that Mr. Martinez conspired with other Defendants are insufficient to survive a motion to 

dismiss. See Jaharis, 297 F.3d at 1198. 

IV. UPON DISMISSAL OF THE RICO COUNT, THIS COURT SHOULD DISMISS ALL 
REMAINING CLAIMS 

As with the federal RICO count, the Complaint’s Florida RICO and RICO conspiracy counts 

(Counts VI and VII) are based on allegations of fraud, with the identical three statutory predicates 

enumerated in § 1961(1) alleged: violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956, 1957 and 1341 (See D.E. 75 at 289-294; 

296-299).  Because the Tribe uses the same predicates and makes the same allegations under Florida RICO 

as the Federal RICO statute and because the same deficiencies pursuant to 9(b) that plagued the federal 

RICO claim are simply re-alleged as part of the Florida RICO and RICO conspiracy counts, and because the 

Florida RICO statute is patterned on the Federal RICO statute, if the federal RICO and RICO conspiracy 

counts fail, the Florida Rico and Florida RICO Conspiracy Counts fail, too.  See Johnson Enterprises of 

Jacksonville, Inc. v. FPL Group, Inc., 162 F.3d 1290, 1319 (11th Cir. 1998) (“Perceiving no reason for 

                                            
11 Am. Dental Ass'n, 605 F.3d 1283, 1296 n. 6 (11th Cir.2010); Horace-Manasse v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A, 

10-81623-CV, 2012 WL 1232016 (S.D. Fla. Apr. 12, 2012). 
12 Republic of Panama v. BCCI Holdings (Luxembourg) S.A., 119 F.3d 935, 950 (11th Cir. 1997) (citing 
United States v. Church, 955 F.2d 688, 694 (11th Cir. 1992) (internal quotations and citations omitted), cert. 
denied, 506 U.S. 881, 113 S. Ct. 233, 121 L. Ed. 2d 169 (1992). 
13 Carter v. MGA, Inc., 189 Fed. App’x. 893, 895 (11th Cir. 2006) (holding general allegations that 

defendants conspired and agreed with each other to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) with reference to violations 
described above were insufficient to maintain a claim for RICO conspiracy). 
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applying a different rationale to Count II [Fla. RICO] than the one we applied in rejecting Count I [RICO], 

we affirm the district court's decision granting judgment as a matter of law for the reasons we have affirmed 

its judgment on Count I.”).   

Finally, this Court must dismiss all remaining claims because the sole basis for federal court subject 

matter jurisdiction in this matter is the allegation of violation of the federal RICO statute, see (D.E. 75 at 2).  

Because the Florida RICO and RICO Conspiracy counts fail, only state law claims remain.  Because the 

RICO claim fails, this court must dismiss all remaining claims as well.  See Koch, 847 F. Supp. 2d at 1378 

(“[H]aving found that Plaintiff’s claim under the RICO Act must be dismissed, the Court must also dismiss 

the state law claims unless Plaintiff can independently establish personal jurisdiction with respect to those 

claims.”).  “[I]f the only jurisdictionally sufficient claim is dropped or dismissed, particularly if that occurs 

early in the litigation, the pendant claim should be dismissed as well.” Id. 

JOINDER IN MOTIONS TO DISMISS FILED BY OTHER DEFENDANTS 

Mr. Martinez hereby adopts and joins by reference the legal arguments made and legal authority 

cited by the other Defendants to this Lawsuit in support of the dismissal of the Second Amended Complaint. 

CONCLUSION 

Because no proper official waiver of the Tribe’s sovereign immunity is pled by the 

Complaint, the Court should now dismiss this suit with prejudice based upon a lack of subject 

matter jurisdiction over the sovereign Tribe.  However, should the Court determine to allow the 

litigation to proceed, the Court should also clearly hold that by fling this Lawsuit, the Tribe’s 

sovereign immunity has been deemed waived for all purposes and claims arising out of this 

Lawsuit.  Beyond the threshold sovereign immunity/subject matter jurisdiction issue, the 

allegations of the Complaint pose an illogical and self-contradictory argument which fail to legally 

sustain any claim for relief and thus the Complaint should be dismissed. 

Respectfully submitted this 21st day of December, 2012. 

      
s/ Manuel A. Avila 

      Manuel A. Avila 
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